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DECISION

We grant the motion for summary decision in favor of the Missouri Highways and Transportation Commission (“the MHTC”) against Kennith W. Wood, III, d/b/a Circle T Trucking (“Wood”).  Wood committed three violations of federal law and one violation of Missouri law.  
Procedure

On August 18, 2011, the MHTC filed a complaint against Wood.  On November 28, 2011, Wood was served personally with a copy of the complaint and our notice of complaint/notice of hearing.  On March 8, 2012, the MHTC moved for leave to file an amended complaint, to correct the spelling of Wood’s first name.
  We granted the motion on April 2, 
2012, and deemed the amended complaint filed on March 8, 2012.  Wood answered neither the original nor the amended complaint.
Our rules require Wood to file an answer.
  Upon a party’s failure to file an answer, we may on our own motion deem Wood to have admitted the facts pleaded in the complaint.
  We do so in this case.
On July 17, 2012, the MHTC filed a motion for summary decision.  We gave Wood until July 30, 2012, to respond to the MHTC’s motion, but Wood did not respond.  Our Regulation 
1 CSR 15-3.446(6)(A) permits us to grant a motion for summary decision “if a party establishes facts that entitle any party to a favorable decision and no party genuinely disputes such facts.”  Facts are established by admissible evidence.
  The MHTC established the following facts as undisputed based upon the admissible evidence before this Commission.
Findings of Fact
1. Circle T Trucking is owned and operated by Wood as a sole proprietorship.  Wood’s principal place of business is in Benton County, Missouri, at 35807 Highway M, Mora, Missouri, 65345.
Count I

2. Wood employed Robert Gilbert as a driver between May and August 2009.

3. On August 20, 2009, Gilbert drove Wood’s 1999 Kenworth truck, with a gross vehicle weight rating (“GVWR”) of 26,001 pounds, pulling a 2008 Tempte trailer with a GVWR of 26,001 pounds, in interstate commerce transporting dried distillers grains upon public highways from Malta Bend, Missouri, to Westville, Oklahoma.
4. When Gilbert drove Wood’s truck on August 20, 2009, Wood had not yet implemented a random alcohol and controlled substances testing program.
Count II

5. On November 3, 2009, Wood used Terry Carnahan to operate Wood’s commercial motor vehicle, a 1995 Kenworth dump truck, with a GVWR of 26,001 pounds, pulling a 2002 Tempte trailer with a GWVR of 26,001 pounds, in interstate commerce to transport beans upon the public highways from St. Louis, Missouri, to Fairland, Oklahoma.  
6. When Carnahan drove Wood’s truck on November 3, 2009, Wood failed to have in effect the required minimum levels of financial responsibility, because his insurance had been cancelled and he had not replaced it.

Count III

7. On August 20, 2009, Gilbert drove Wood’s leased 1999 Kenworth truck, as set out under Count I above.
8. When Gilbert drove Wood’s truck on August 20, 2009, Wood did not maintain the required responses to the employer’s inquiries concerning the driver’s driving record in the driver’s qualification file.
Conclusions of Law

We have jurisdiction over the MHTC’s complaint.
  The MHTC has the authority to enforce Parts 382, 387, and 391 of Title 49 of the Code of Federal Regulations.
  The MHTC has the burden of establishing by clear and satisfactory evidence that Wood violated the law.
  
Federal regulation 49 CFR § 390.5 provides in relevant part:
Commercial motor vehicle means any self-propelled or towed motor vehicle used on a highway in interstate commerce to transport passengers or property when the vehicle—

(1) Has a gross vehicle weight rating or gross combination weight rating, or gross vehicle weight or gross combination weight, of 4,536 kg (10,001 pounds) or more, whichever is greater[.]

*   *   *

Driver means any person who operates any commercial motor vehicle.

*   *   *

For-hire motor carrier means a person engaged in the transportation of goods or passengers for compensation.

*   *   *

Motor carrier means a for-hire carrier or a private motor carrier.  

Wood signed a “Notice of Violations” in which he admitted to the violations alleged by MHTC.
  But statutes and case law instruct us that we must “separately and independently” determine whether facts admitted to constitute cause for discipline,
 and this is no less true for admissions of law.  Therefore, we independently assess whether the facts admitted allow discipline under the law cited.  
Count I


The MHTC alleges that Wood violated 49 CFR § 382.305(a) and (b)(2), which provide as follows:

(a) Every employer shall comply with the requirements of this section. Every driver shall submit to random alcohol and controlled substance testing as required in this section.

* * *

(b)(2) Except as provided in paragraphs (f) through (h) of this section, the minimum annual percentage rate for random controlled substances testing shall be 50 percent of the average number of driver positions. 

On August 20, 2009, Wood used Gilbert to drive Wood’s commercial motor vehicle in interstate commerce.  In support of its allegation that Wood violated the above-referenced regulation, the MHTC drew our attention to several exhibits.  The only one that specifically addresses this particular violation is Exhibit 8, which shows that Wood was the only driver in the drug and alcohol testing pool as of March 30, 2010.   

MHTC’s motion for summary decision explains the document as follows:  

Exhibit 8 – CNCI Business Records Affidavit for Active Driver List for Circle T Farm stating Kennith Wood, III is the only driver enrolled in the drug and alcohol testing pool as of March 30, 2010[.]

The first page of the exhibit is a business records affidavit from a representative of CMCI Consortium, which appears to be in order so as to allow admission of the second page.  The second page bears the heading, “CMCI Active Driver List,” the subheading “DBA CIRCLE T FARM,” and a notation underneath the subheading, “As of March 30, 2010.”  The only active driver listed is Wood, and he is shown as the owner.  Without knowing the significance of CMCI Consortium to the issue, and why (or if) a document stating on its face an effective date of 
March 30, 2010 helps prove Wood’s violation of 49 CFR § 382.305(a) or (b)(2) on August 20, 2009, we cannot see how it proves MHTC’s assertions.


However, MHTC’s complaint alleges that Wood allowed Gilbert to drive “without requiring [him] to submit to the prescribed random alcohol and controlled substances testing program,” and other documents make it clear that when Gilbert drove Wood’s truck on August 20, 2009, Wood had not yet implemented a random testing program.  Therefore, we conclude that Wood violated 49 CFR 382.305(a) and (b)(2).  

Count II


The MHTC alleges that Wood violated 49 CFR § 387.7(a), which provides:

(a) No motor carrier shall operate a motor vehicle until the motor carrier has obtained and has in effect the minimum levels of financial responsibility as set forth in § 387.9 of this subpart.

MHTC’s complaint states:

On or about November 2, 2009, Respondent violated 49 CFR § 387.7(a) in that Respondent used his employee, Terry Carnahan, operated a commercial vehicle . . . in interstate commerce transporting property (specifically, beans) from St. Louis, Missouri to Fairland, Oklahoma without having in effected the required minimum levels of financial responsibility coverage.
In support of its allegation that Wood violated this provision, the MHTC points to  Exhibit 13, a document that appears to be a list of insurance policies covering Wood’s trucking business for the period February 25, 2008 through February 16, 2010.  This exhibit shows that Wood’s insurance was cancelled on May 26, 2009 and not replaced until February 3, 2010.   Therefore, we find that he violated 49 CFR 387.7(a).  
Count III


The MHTC’s amended complaint alleges the following with regard to Count III:

On or about August 20, 2009, Respondent violated 49 CFR 391.51(a) and (b)(2)…in that Respondent’s employee. Robert Gilbert…operated a commercial motor vehicle…in interstate commerce transporting property…from Malta Bend, Missouri to Westville, Oklahoma while failing to maintain the required responses to the employer’s inquiries concerning the driver’s driving record in the driver’s qualification file.

49 CFR § 391.51(a) and (b)(2) provided at all relevant times:

(a) Each motor carrier shall maintain a driver qualification file for each driver it employs. A driver's qualification file may be combined with his/her personnel file.

(b) The qualification file for a driver must include:

* * *

(2) A copy of the motor vehicle record received from each State pursuant to § 391.23(a)(1)[.] 
The MHTC’s complaint refers to, and quotes, a version of 49 CFR 391.51(b)(2) that had been superseded by amendment.  The amendment was published in its final version on December 1, 2008 and became effective January 30, 2009.
  Prior to this amendment, 49 CFR 391.51(b)(2) read:

(b) The qualification file for a driver must include:

* * *

(2) A copy of the response by each State agency concerning a driver’s driving record pursuant to § 391.23(a)(1)[.]

The language of paragraph (b)(2) is the language used in the amended complaint.  We look at the amended complaint and the regulations in place to see whether they share a common issue.  The prior regulation required a motor carrier to include a copy of the response by each state agency concerning a driver’s driving record pursuant to 49 CFR § 391.23(a)(1) in the driver’s qualification file.  The version of the regulation in place on August 20, 2009 required the motor carrier to include a copy of the motor vehicle record received from each state pursuant to 
§ 391.23(a)(1).

On August 20, 2009, 49 CFR 391.23(a)(1) read as follows:

Except as provided in Subpart G of this part, each motor carrier shall make the following investigations and inquiries with respect to each driver it employs, other than a person who has been a regularly employed driver of the motor carrier for a continuous period which began before January 1, 1971:

(1) An inquiry to each State where the driver held or holds a motor vehicle operator's license or permit during the preceding 3 years to obtain that driver's motor vehicle record.[
]
The earlier version of 49 CFR 391.51(b)(2) required that Wood keep a copy of the response from each state agency concerning his driver’s driving record pursuant to 49 CFR 391.23(a)(1), while the later version required Wood to keep the motor vehicle record received from each state pursuant to 49 CFR 391.23(a)(1).  In both cases, Wood was obligated to keep a record of what he received from each state regarding Gilbert’s motor vehicle record.  Therefore, the issue appears to be the same, regardless of the version of 49 CFR 391.51(b)(2) in effect.  Although the language of both the regulation and the complaint is phrased in a manner that is difficult to understand, we can infer sufficient facts – namely, that Wood did not have a copy of Gilbert’s driving record in his files – to find that Wood violated 49 CFR 391.51(b)(2).

The MHTC also alleges that as a result of Wood’s violation of 49 CFR 391.51(a) and (b)(2), he violated § 307.400, which provides in relevant part:

1.  It is unlawful for any person to operate any commercial motor vehicle as defined in Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations, Part 390.5, either singly or in combination with a trailer, as both vehicles are defined in Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations, Part 390.5, unless such vehicles are equipped and operated as required by Parts 390 through 397, Title 49, Code of Federal Regulations, as such regulations have been and may periodically be amended, whether intrastate transportation or interstate transportation[.]
Since we have found that Wood violated the federal regulations cited above, we find that he also violated § 307.400.
Summary


Wood violated 49 CFR §§ 382.305(a) and (b)(2), 387.7(a), 391.51(a) and (b)(2).  By his violation of the latter federal regulation, he violated § 307.400.  We grant the MHTC’s motion and cancel the hearing.  

SO ORDERED on August 14, 2012.


________________________________



KAREN A. WINN


Commissioner
�Wood’s first name was originally spelled “Kenneth.”


�Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.380(1).


	�Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.380(7)(C)1.


�Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.446(6)(B).


	�Sections 621.040 RSMo 2000 and 226.008.4 RSMo Supp. 2011.  Statutory references are to RSMo Supp. 2011 unless otherwise noted.


�Section 226.008.2(1) and §§ 390.201 and 622.550, RSMo 2000.


	�Section 622.350.


	�Ex. 9.


	�Kennedy v. Missouri Real Estate Commission, 762 S.W.2d 454, 456-57 (Mo. App., E.D. 1988).  


	�73 Fed. Register 73,127.


	�49 CFR 391.23(a)(1) was amended by 73 Fed. Register 73,126 on December 1, 2008, effective 


January 30, 2009.  Paragraph (a)(1) has not been amended since the December 1, 2008 amendment.
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